




RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

3. Financial Risk Management 

The consolidated entity holds the following financial instruments:

Financial Assets
Cash, cash equivalents and current financial assets at amortised cost
Other assets - restricted term and security deposits
Trade receivables
Other receivables

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Lease Liabilities

Market Risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Consolidated entity sensitivity
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-                  

8,080              
12,950            12,929            

13,548            

During the financial year the consolidated entity repaid USD 5.0 million (FY20: USD 1.0 million) against it's debt
facility. Based on this, had the Australian dollar weakened / strengthened by 10% against the actual foreign
currency, with all other variables held constant, the consolidated entity's operating result would have been
impacted by a foreign exchange loss / gain of AUD 0.7 million (2020: AUD 1.0 million).

147                 

14,910            25,241            

2,521              

2021 2020
$'000 $'000

During the financial year the consolidated entity recognised revenue from the sale of dore, zinc, lead, copper and
gold concentrate of AUD 118.3 million (USD 90.3 million) (2020: AUD 52.7 million / USD 36.1million). Based on
this, had the Australian dollar weakened / strengthened by 10% against the actual foreign currency, with all other
variables held constant, the consolidated entity's revenue would have been AUD 13.1 million higher / AUD 10.8
million lower (2020: AUD 5.8 million higher / 4.8 million lower).

30 June 30 June

7,368              

ensure GST is excluded

The Board has the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework.
The Audit and Risk Management Committee is responsible for developing and monitoring risk management
policies. The Committee reports regularly to the Board on its activities.

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the consolidated entity, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the consolidated entity’s activities. 

The Company's Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with
the consolidated entity’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk
management framework in relation to the risks faced by the consolidated entity.

The consolidated entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk that could affect the consolidated entity's financial position and
performance.

1,215              136                 

Sales revenues are recognised in Australian Dollar (AUD), however they are based on commodity price of base
and precious metals which are denominated in United States dollars (USD). The borrowings are also
denominated in USD. The majority of operating costs are denominated in Australian dollars (AUD), the
consolidated entity’s cash flow is significantly exposed to  movements in the AUD:USD exchange rate.

The consolidated entity maintains a balance of USD to pay USD denominated expenses such as sea freight,
reagents and assay charges. During the financial year the consolidated entity has not undertaken any foreign
exchange hedging activities and as such remains exposed to fluctuations in the AUD:USD exchange rate.

296                 
36,938            23,827            

17,737            

19,145            

4,843              



RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

3. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Market Risk (continued)
(ii) Commodity price risk

Consolidated entity sensitivity

As at the reporting date, the consolidated entity had the following variable rate funds on deposit:

Fund type

Funds on deposit

Funds borrowed
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Revenue (AUD)

Lead

                          16,610 

12,487            

Balance
$'000

The consolidated entity values its ore, gold dore and zinc, lead, copper and gold concentrate inventories at the
lower of cost or net realisable value. The consolidated entity is exposed to commodity price risk as it would need
to value these inventories at net realisable value if this was lower than their cost of production.

                          38,601 

Balance
$'000

Weighted Ave. 
Interest Rate 

1.42                

                  962 

The table below shows the revenue in AUD for each metal sold during the financial year. Based on these
revenues, had commodity prices weakened / strengthened by 10% against the actual commodity prices realised,
with all other variables held constant, the consolidated entity's operating result (after payment of revenue based
royalties) would have been impacted as shown in the table below.

30 June 2021 30 June 2020

Copper
                          10,123 

(iii) Interest rate risk
The consolidated entity's exposure to interest rate arises as a result of the interest bearing deposits held and
interest paid on the advanced sales of zinc and lead concentrates under the respective concentrate sales
agreements.

The exposure is affected by a number of factors including; interest rates (current and forward) and the currencies
that the investments and borrowings are denominated in; level of cash, liquid investments and borrowings;
maturity dates of investments and borrowings; and proportion of investments and borrowings that are fixed rate or
floating rate.

                          42,914 

              1,578 

             (4,077)

The consolidated entity's sales revenue are generated from the sale of zinc, lead, copper, gold and silver metal
contained in its gold dore and zinc, lead, copper and gold concentrate. Accordingly the consolidated entity's
revenues and trade receivables are exposed to commodity price risk fluctuations.

The consolidated entity has implemented a short term price fixing program over the quotation period (QP) for
sales of zinc, lead, copper, gold and silver metal already produced. Typically between 80 and 90% of the payable
zinc, lead, copper, gold and silver metal for each shipment of zinc, lead and copper concentrates will be fixed for
the period from the issue of the first provisional sales invoice to the final settlement of the sale, which may occur
between one and four months later. 

During the financial year the consolidated entity has not undertaken any hedging activities on metal not already
produced and as such remains exposed to fluctuations in commodity price on these metals beyond the QP.

$'000

Weighted Ave. 
Interest Rate %

             (1,578)

                (959)                   959 

Gold

1.97                       147                 5.45                7,368              

                          10,090 

Metal
              4,077 

             (3,667)               3,667 

0.71                       12,423            

Silver
                (962)

Impact on operating result 
-10% 10%

Zinc



RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

3. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Market Risk (continued)

Consolidated entity sensitivity

Sensitivity of interest revenue and interest expense to interest rate movement

Interest Revenue
Increase 0.5% (2020: 0.5%)
Decrease 0.5% (2020: 0.5%)

Interest Expense
Increase 0.5% (2020: 0.5%)
Decrease 0.5% (2020: 0.5%)

Credit Risk

The consolidated entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets - restricted term and security deposits
Trade and other debtors
Other receivables
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4,886              2,760              

19,145            8,080              

ensure GST is excluded

(46)                  

62                   

$'000 $'000

36,981            24,065            

12,950            12,929            

2020
$'000 $'000

30 June 30 June
2021

46                   
(34)                  

The sensitivity analysis below determines the exposure to interest rates at the reporting date with the stipulated
change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period.

The consolidated entity has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers
with an appropriate credit history. The consolidated entity is exposed to two large customers who have offtake
agreements for the Thalanga zinc, lead and copper concentrate. The credit risk is considered low as the
customers are perceived as reliable, and during the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, all payments continue to
be received within the contractual payment terms. 

The directors believe that there is negligible credit risk with the cash and cash equivalents, as cash and cash
equivalents are held at call and short term deposit with a reputable Australian Banking institution with a long term
S&P credit rating of AA-. 

-                  296                 

(62)                  (72)                  

2021

72                   

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial
loss to the consolidated entity. Credit risk is managed on a consolidated entity basis. Credit risk arises from cash
and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposure to trade
customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. 

34                   

2020
Impact on pre-tax profit



RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

3. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Liquidity risk 

Financing arrangements

Maturities of financial liabilities

As at 30 June 2021
Trade and other payables
Insurance premium funding
Working Capital facility
Lease Liabilities

As at 30 June 2020
Trade and other payables
Insurance premium funding
Working Capital facility
Lease Liabilities

Fair Value Measurements
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            13,849 

77                   
5.45                              7,291 7,291       7,291              

Total
$'000

             14,910 

-           

-                  

Carrying 
amount

$'000

17,737            
77            

The following table details the consolidated entity's contractual maturity for its financial liabilities:

                    77 

1,215              
-                  

14,910     

-           
147                 

            17,737 

45            61            25,241     

6 - 12 
months

$'000

From 1 to 
5 years

$'000

13,548                        13,548 

5.70                

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.

            25,136 
61            

2.03                

-           -                               -   

138          923          

-           147          
-           

45            31

Less than 6 
months

$'000

25,241            

Weighted 
average 

interest rate
%

1.97                

5.70                                  154 138          923          1,215       

136                 

-           

136          

13,548     
                  147 -           

17,737     

-           

The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by monitoring immediate and forecasted cash requirements and
ensures adequate cash reserves are maintained to pay debts as and when due.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet obligations when due. At
the end of the reporting period the consolidated entity held deposits at call and restricted cash on deposit totalling
$32.1million (2020: $21.0 million) that are expected to readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.
Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the consolidated entity maintains flexibility in funding by
maintaining availability under a committed debt facility.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the consolidated entity's available cash reserve (comprising the
undrawn borrowing facilities below and cash and cash equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flows. 

The consolidated entity maintains a USD 15 million debt facility with Trafigura Pte Ltd. During the financial year
the consolidated entity did not draw down (FY20: USD 6.0 million) against this facility. As at 30 June 2020 USD
5.0 million remained drawn at an interest rate based on the 12 month LIBOR rate plus a margin, with a maturity
date of 30 September 2020. This debt was repaid by 30 September 2020. The debt was secured by a charge
over the consolidated entity's unsold ore, zinc and lead concentrate stocks. The consolidated entity's exposure to
market risk is discussed in the 'foreign exchange risk ' section above.



RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

● Note 12 - Income Tax Expense
● Note 15 - Inventory
● Note 17 - Property, plant and equipment
● Note 18 - Mine properties and development
● Note 20 - Right-of-use assets
● Note 21 - Exploration and evaluation expenditure
● Note 24 - Provisions
● Note 36 - Share-based payments

5. Revenue and Other Income

Revenue from contracts with customers

Total revenue
Other income
Interest income
Realised and unrealised foreign exchange gain / (loss)
Diesel rebates
Government grants
Fair value gain on loan receivable
Rental and other income
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52,711            

1,159              

104                 284                 

10,090            

73                   

11,236            

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in the following notes:

$'000

54,026            

23,906            

71                   

Contained precious metals in dore 2,827              -                  

96                   

38,601            

  

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its
judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses.
Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various
factors, including expectations of future events, management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. 

13,734            

1,315              
119,496          

118,337          

Contained precious metals in concentrate

42,914            

822                 

30 June

7,927              
19,814            Contained zinc metal in concentrate

  

561                 

20                   

30 June

Contained lead metal in concentrate

  

(1,007)             

Contained copper metal in concentrate

380                 

Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had,
or may have, on the consolidated entity based on known information. This consideration extends to customers,
supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the consolidated entity operates. There does not currently
appear to be either any significant impact upon the financial statements or any significant uncertainties with
respect to events or conditions which may impact the consolidated entity unfavourably as at the reporting date or
subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.

2021 2020
$'000

1,072              -                  

The consolidated entity has disaggregated revenue into the metals contained in the dore and concentrates that
we receive payment for from our customers, under our concentrate and dore sales agreements. All revenue is
recognised at a point in time. Revenue from contracts with customers includes revenue from the provision of
shipping and insurance services of $1.3 million (FY20: $1.2 million).



RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

5. Revenue and Other Income (continued)

Accounting policy

Risk exposure
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Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the consolidated entity is expected to 
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the
consolidated entity: identifies the contract; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; determines the
transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable consideration and the time value of money;
allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone
selling price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and recognises revenue when or as each
performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to the customer of the goods or services
promised.  

Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer such as
discounts, rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any other contingent
events. Such estimates are determined using either the 'expected value' or 'most likely amount' method. The
measurement of variable consideration is subject to a constraining principle whereby revenue will only be
recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur. The measurement constraint continues until the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts received that are subject to the constraining principle
are recognised as a refund liability.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period
using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Other revenue
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.

Government Grants
Revenue from Government Grants is recognised when it is received or when the conditions have been met that
establish the right to receive payment.

Sale of dore
Revenue from the sale of dore is recognised when there is evidence indicating that there has been a transfer of
the dore's control to the customer under a valid sales contract. Sales revenue comprises gross revenue earned,
net of refining charges where applicable. 

Sale of concentrate
Revenue from the sale of concentrate is recognised when there is evidence indicating that there has been a
transfer of the concentrate's control to the customer under a valid sales contract. Sales revenue comprises gross
revenue earned, net of treatment and refining charges where applicable, from the provision of concentrate to
customers. Sales are initially recognised at estimated sales value when the product is sold. Adjustments are
made for variations in metals price, assay, weight and currency between the time of sale and the time of final
settlement of sales proceeds.

Revenue from services - shipping and insurance
Where sales of concentrate are on terms that include the consolidated entity being responsible for shipping and
insurance costs, shipping and insurance is a separate performance obligation from the sale of the concentrate,
and the revenue allocated to shipping and insurance is recognised over the period of transfer to the customer. 

The consolidated entity's exposure to market risk is discussed in Note 3. 



RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

6. Sales Realisation Expenses

Queensland and New South Wales Government mineral royalty (a)
Provision for settlement of TCM royalty dispute (b)
Land and sea freight
Port and loading charges

7. Employment Benefits Expense

Salary and fees (a)
Defined contribution superannuation
Share based payments - Performance Rights 36.
Share based payments - Options 36.
Other employment costs (b)

(a) Salary and fees

8. Production Costs

Ore mining cost
Ore processing cost
Shared operating cost (a)
Movement in ore, concentrate and dore stocks on hand

(a) Leases

Red River Resources Limited Annual Financial Report 30 June 2021 58

(b) Other employment costs

2,592              

15,113            

$'000

316                 

30 June

47,079            

$'000

5,098              

30 June

3,205              

806                 

2020

377                 

2,552              

10,064            11,097            

670                 

30 June

25,439            

2021

Note

4,851              

2020

$'000
2021

32,034            

Note

Note

30 June

1,009              (2,603)             

1,005              
-                  

Other employment costs include: payroll tax $577,000 (FY20: $292,000); workers compensation insurance
$274,000 (FY20: $230,000); and staff recruitment and relocation $154,000  (FY20: $144,000).  

2020

2021

33,814            

$'000

11,078            

30 June

7,994              

15,260            

$'000

41                   

During the financial year, short-term lease payments of $1,039,000 (2020: $839,000) and low-value lease
payment of  $46,000 (2020: $12,000) were made.  These payments are included in shared operating costs.

2,939              

1,108              
189                 

$'000

During the financial year, a further $0.7 million (2020: $1.0 million) in salary and wages was incurred and
capitalised to Exploration and Evaluation costs on the statement of financial position.

12,958            

30 June

23,761            

(b) Provision for settlement of TCM royalty dispute
The consolidated entity has accrued for the royalty payable up to the termination of the agreement and provided
for the estimated settlement of the dispute with TCM should the consolidated entity's appeal of the judgement
made against it be unsuccessful.  Refer to Note 39 for further details.

345                 

9,215              

1,921              

(a) Mineral and net smelter return royalty
Mineral royalty is payable to the New South Wales Government under the New South Wales Mining Regulations
2016 on dore and gold concentrate sales from the Hillgrove Operation. Mineral royalty is payable to the
Queensland Government under the Queensland Mineral Resources Regulation 2013 on the sale of all
concentrates from the Thalanga Operation. 



RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

9. Corporate Costs

Audit fees 29
Insurance
Legal and professional fees
Hillgrove acquisition costs
Other

10. General and Administration Costs

Bank fees and charges
Thalanga site
Hillgrove site
Other

11. Interest and Other Finance Costs

Interest paid on advanced concentrate sales
Interest and fees paid on debt and insurance premium funding
Unwind of right-of-use assets and non-current rehabilitation liability

12. Income Tax

Income tax expense / (benefit)

Deferred tax expense / (benefit)
Current tax expense / (benefit)
Adjustment recognised for prior year
Income tax expense / (benefit)

Red River Resources Limited Annual Financial Report 30 June 2021 59

186                 

85                   

$'000

2,738              

2020

(6,111)             

30 June

$'000

256                 

287                 
704                 924                 

504                 

302                 

2,229              
398                 

30 June

30 June

2021

818                 

-                  

1,276              

30 June

1,282              

4,647              

2020

35                   

237                 

$'000

594                 

252                 

1,413              

111                 386                 
356                 

2020

3,365              

30 June
2021 2020

-                  

2021

742                 

142                 
470                 

15                   

30 June
2021

$'000

-                  

(404)                

$'000

30 June

$'000

(5,706)             

82                   
1,331              

925                 770                 

$'000

30 June

$'000Note



RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

12. Income Tax (continued)

Numerical reconciliation on income tax benefit / (expense) to prima facie tax receivable / (payable)

Profit / (loss) before income tax expense from continuing operations

Tax at the statutory rate of 30.0% (2020: 30.0%)

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible / (taxable) in calculating taxable income:
- Non-deductible expenses (Share based payments, entertainment & fines)
- Adjustment recognised for prior year
- Formation of tax consolidated group

Current tax expense

Total tax expense/(benefit)

Deferred tax included in income tax expense comprises:
(Increase) / decrease in deferred tax assets
Increase in deferred tax liabilities

Tax assets not recognised
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised
Temporary differences

Potential tax benefit not as yet recognised

Deferred tax assets comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:
Provisions
Accruals
Inventory
Unrealised foreign exchange losses
Mine Development
Leases (right-of-use asset)
Formation of tax consolidated group
Unused income tax losses

Amounts recognised in equity:
Transaction costs on share issue

Deferred tax asset

Movements:
Opening balance
Credit/(Charged) to profit or loss
Credit/(Charged) to equity
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-                  

(6,111)             

30 June

(6,406)             

3,260              

-                  

95                   

30 June

15,092            

-                  

(2,021)             

19                   

152                 
5                     152                 

15,097            

7,032              
(6,111)             

-                  

4,647              

6,032              
11,261            

2021

11,414            

The above potential tax benefit for tax losses and temporary differences has not been recognised in the
statement of financial position. Tax losses can only be utilised in the future if the continuity of ownership test is
passed, or failing that, the same business test is passed.

5,007              

(2,385)             

75                   

362                 

203                 

$'000

1,282              

3,164              

6,406              

8,189              

(79)                  

25                   

11,414            
2,384              

$'000

296                 

500                 

83                   

11,414            
-                  

97                   
5,918              

4,647              

(3)                    

364                 

5                     

-                  
13,798            

-                  

-                  

201                 
(404)                

(6,111)             

10,546            (12,963)           

(3,889)             

4,647              

-                  

2020

1,408              



RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

12. Income Tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities comprise temporary differences attributable to:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:
Exploration and evaluation
Mine development
Prepayments
Receivables
Fixed Assets
Consumables
Other
Formation of tax consolidated group

Movements:
Opening balance
Charged/(Credit) to profit or loss
Charged/(Credit) to equity

Net deferred tax asset / (liability)

●

●
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the
same taxable authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle
simultaneously.

Effective 1 August 2019, Red River Resources Limited (the 'head entity') and its wholly-owned Australian
subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime. The head entity
and each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax
amounts. The tax consolidated group has applied the 'separate taxpayer within group' approach in determining
the appropriate amount of taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group.

-                  2,256              

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be applied
when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively
enacted, except for: 

When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting nor taxable profits; or
When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures, and the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

2,887              

5,705              -                  

59                   
-                  

749                 -                  
364                 

296                 
-                  

61                   

7,031              

114                 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Accounting policy

1,397              

7,572              

10,873            3,842              

2021

-                  

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where
applicable.

2,925              

$'000$'000

-                  

30 June 30 June

3,842              12,172            

74                   

3,546              3,842              

2,347              

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date.
Deferred tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits
will be available for the carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset.

2020

Deferred tax liability



RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

12. Income Tax (continued)

Significant estimates and judgements

13. Cash and Cash Equivalents

34.

Risk exposure
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Financial assets at amortised cost per Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises the current tax liabilities
(or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from
each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group.

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as
amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax consolidated group. The tax funding arrangement
ensures that the intercompany charge equals the current tax liability or benefit of each tax consolidated group
member, resulting in neither a contribution by the head entity to the subsidiaries nor a distribution by the
subsidiaries to the head entity.

30 June

The consolidated entity's exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in Note 3. The maximum exposure to credit
risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of cash and cash equivalents mentioned above.

Note

8,007              

74                   -                  

Cash and cash equivalents per Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period as per 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

$'000

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity
of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. 

Accounting policy (continued)

$'000

Accounting policy

19,145            

2020
30 June

19,145            

2021

8,080              

The consolidated entity is subject to income taxes in Australia and does not operate in any foreign jurisdictions. 

Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. The consolidated entity
recognises liabilities of anticipated tax based on estimates of taxes due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such determination is made.

Significant judgement is required in determining deferred tax assets and liabilities. There are many transactions
and calculations during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is
probable that future forecast taxable profits are available to utilise those temporary differences and losses, and
the tax losses continue to be available having regard to the relevant tax legislation associated with their
recoupment. The Company believes this amount to be recoverable based on taxable income projections.

The Queensland Department of Environment and Science has updated the Estimated Rehabilitation Cost (ERC)
for the Thalanga Operation to $13.6 million. This increase in the ERC (environmental liability) has been reflected
in the financial statements for the period ended June 30 2021. Under the previous ERC, surety of $8.3 million
was lodged with Queensland Treasury. Increased surety of $5.4 million was lodged (using current cash reserves)
in July 2021.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

14. Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables
GST receivable
Other debtors

Accounting policy

Risk exposure

15. Inventory

Ore 
Zinc, lead and copper concentrate's 
Gold concentrate
Dore
Consumables 

Accounting policy
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6,444              

43                   239                 

160                 -                  
2,131              

2021

2,521              

Ore and Concentrate Inventories

5,768              

The consolidated entity has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on days overdue.

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any applicable allowance for expected credit losses.

831                 
2,520              

$'000

30 June

1,812              

3,312              

2,496              

Consumables

30 June

$'000

2020

2020

Inventories, comprising zinc, lead, copper and gold concentrate, dore and ore stockpiles, are physically
measured or estimated and valued at the lower of weighted average cost and net realisable value. Costs include
fixed direct costs, variable direct costs and an appropriate portion of fixed overhead costs. A portion of the related
depreciation, depletion and amortisation charge is included in the cost of inventory.

$'000

548                 963                 

Materials and supplies are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Any allowance for obsolescence
is determined by reference to specific stock items identified. A regular and on-going review is undertaken to
establish the extent of surplus items and an allowance is made for any potential loss on their disposal. 

4,843              

30 June

752                 

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit loss. Trade receivables are generally due for
settlement within 5 to 10 days and settlement of 5% retention is due within 3 to 4 months. Trade receivables are
revalued by the marking-to-market of open sales using spot prices at the end of each period end for zinc, lead
and copper concentrate.

The consolidated entity's exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk is discussed in Note 3. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of receivables mentioned above.

2021

$'000

4,886              

-                  552                 

30 June

The consolidated entity has not impaired any receivables in the 2021 year (2020: nil). Customers with balances
past due by without provision for impairment of receivables were nil as at 30 June 2021 (2020: nil). The
consolidated entity did not consider there is a significant credit risk on the aggregate balances after reviewing
credit terms of customers based on recent collection practices.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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15. Inventory (continued)

Significant estimates and judgements

16. Other Assets

Current

Prepayments
Residential housing tenancy bonds

Non-current
Security deposits
Term deposits - restricted cash (a)
Other receivables

(a) Term deposits - restricted cash
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12,423            

9                     

$'000

13,225            

2021 2020

684                 

296                 -                  

Note

Restricted cash relates to cash held on deposits for security against bank guarantees and the consolidated
entity's credit card facility.  

1,100              

1,109              

30 June

$'000

677                 

30 June

527                 515                 

12,950            

The Company reviews the carrying value of inventories regularly to ensure that their cost does not exceed net
realisable value. In determining net realisable value various factors are taken into account, including estimated
future sales price of the product based on prevailing spot metals prices at the reporting date, less estimated costs
to complete production and bring the product to sale.  

Ore stockpiles are measured by estimating the number of tonnes added and removed from the stockpile, zinc
and lead concentrate produced is estimated at the time of production and then confirmed, usually within a week
of being produced, by weighing for trucking to Townsville Port, usually within a week of being produced.  

12,413            

8                     
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

17. Property, Plant and Equipment

Year ended 30 June 2021
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Movements

Year ended 30 June 2020
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

Movements

As at 30 June 2021, no property, plant and equipment is pledged as security against any borrowings.

Accounting policy

●
● Motor vehicles 3 - 5 years
● Leasehold improvements on a time basis over the life of the lease or improvement 
● Plant & equipment 3 - 8 years
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169                 

-                  

(13)                  

$'000

9,392              

$'000

-                  

Depreciation

3,226              

63                   343                 

5,993              

5,950              

9,392              

-                  Additions

(237)                

(1,212)             

$'000

Additions - Hillgrove restart and 

commissioning costs1 -                  

Office 
furniture & 

equip't

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of an asset, less its estimated residual value, over its useful
economic life as follows:

-                  -                  4,666              

(64)                  

14                   

4                     

45                   623                 

$'000

9,969              

(4,851)             

3,226              

(1,336)             

Hillgrove acquisition at fair value

1                     150                 

3,226              

(59)                  

-                  

Balance at 1 July 2020

-                  6,191              

Additions (other) 579                 

3,226              

Depreciation
3,226              13,346            

(3,515)             (174)                
3,226              

5,993              

1                     

4                     

Balance at 1 July 2019

-                  

150                 Balance at 30 June 2021

9,392              

391                 405                 

17                   
865                 4,091              -           

18,197            

12,908            

387                 3,226              

224                 

3 - 5 years

169                 

-                  

4                     

On initial recognition, items of property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost, which includes the purchase
price as well as any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by Management.

After initial recognition, items of property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

(4,552)             

(69)                  

(3)                    

14,521            

169                 
-                  

Plant & 
equipment

(3,283)             

(62)                  

Office furniture and equipment

(1,294)             

(1,269)             

-                  

Motor 
vehicles

Balance at 30 June 2020

-                  

13,346            

Freehold 
Land

5,993              

3,226              9,969              

$'000

9,276              

Total

63                   

4,666              

Assets are depreciated from the date the asset is ready for use. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. An assets' carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. Gains and losses on
disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses are included
in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income.  

1 Hillgrove restart and commissioning costs were held as work in progress and had not incurred depreciation charges as at 30 June 2021.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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17. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Significant estimates and judgements
Asset lives

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, mine properties and development 

18. Mine Properties and Development

Year ended 30 June 2021
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Movements
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$'000$'000

(13,871)           
-                  

Mine 
properties in 

production

The consolidated entity assesses impairment of property, plant and equipment and mine properties in
accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets . Where indicators of impairment exists, the recoverable
amount of these assets is determined based on the value in use. The value in use calculation is based on
discounted cashflow analysis. This requires the use of estimates and judgements in relation to a range of inputs
including: commodity prices; exchange rates; reserves and mine planning scheduling; production costs; and
discount rates.

It is reasonably possible that the underlying metal price assumption may change which may then impact the
estimated life of mine determinant and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying value of mining
plant and equipment, mining infrastructure and mining development assets. Furthermore, the expected future
cash flows used to determine the value-in-use of these assets are inherently uncertain and could materially
change over time. They are significantly affected by a number of factors including reserves and production
estimates, together with economic factors such as metal spot prices, discount rates, estimates of costs to
produce reserves and future capital expenditure.

The consolidated entity has regard to external forecasts of key assumptions where available (e.g. commodity
price and exchange rates).The recoverable amount is particularly sensitive to fluctuations in the AUD commodity
price.

No impairment to property, plant and equipment or mine properties occurred for the year ended 30 June 2021
(FY20: Nil).  Deferred exploration was impaired for the year ended 30 June 2021 as outlined in Note 21.

60,909            

Capitalisation of reassessment of provision for rehabilitation

$'000

3,899              
Additions 16,350            

33,546            33,905            Balance at 1 July 2020

-                  
805                 

The estimations of useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods require significant management
judgements and are regularly reviewed. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of a change in
mine life or some other event. If they need to be modified, the depreciation and amortisation expense is
accounted for prospectively from the date of the assessment until the end of the revised useful life (for both the
current and future years).

16,797            

Balance at 30 June 2021

446                 

Mine 
properties in 
development

359                 

-                  
3,899              

805                 39,924            40,729            

(20,181)           

(13,871)           

Total mine 
properties

39,924            805                 

Amortisation

40,729            
(20,181)           

60,104            
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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18. Mines Properties and Development (continued)

Year ended 30 June 2020
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Movements

Accounting policy
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40,214            

359                 

-                  
(20,419)           20,419            -                  

-                  (20,810)           (20,810)           
-                  20,810            20,810            

Disposals - West 45 Mine completed - reverse out costs
Disposals - West 45 Mine completed - reverse out amortisation

Transfers
Transfers - exploration and evaluation

33,546            
(6,309)             

Amortisation

Total mine 
properties

Capitalisation of reassessment of provision for rehabilitation

359                 

14,410            

(6,309)             

33,905            
(8,068)             

80                   

-                  

(8,068)             

$'000

39,855            

3,664              

-                  

359                 33,546            

Mine properties includes aggregate expenditure in relation to mine construction, mine development, exploration
and evaluation expenditure where a development decision has been made and acquired mineral interests. 

The cost of mine properties in development is accumulated separately for each area of interest in which
economically recoverable reserves and resources have been identified. This expenditure includes direct costs of
construction, drilling costs and removal of overburden to gain access to the ore, borrowing costs capitalised
during construction and an appropriate allocation of attributable overheads.
 
Mine properties in production represents expenditure in respect of exploration and evaluation, overburden
removal based on underlying mining activities and related mining data and construction costs and development
incurred or previously accumulated and carried forward in relation to properties in which mining has now
commenced. Such expenditure comprises direct costs and an appropriate allocation of directly related overhead
expenditure. 

All expenditure incurred prior to commencement of production from each development property is carried forward
to the extent to which recoupment out of future revenue from the sale of production, or from the sale of the
property, is reasonably assured. When further development expenditure is incurred in respect of a mine property
after commencement of commercial production, such expenditure is carried forward as part of the cost of the
mine property only when future economic benefits are reasonably assured, otherwise the expenditure is classified
as part of the cost of production and expensed as incurred. Such capitalised development expenditure is added
to the total carrying value of mine development being amortised. 

The accounting policy adopted for Mine Properties and Development is consistent with that of the previous
financial year. 

The life of mine is reviewed regularly as additional information becomes known. The impact of any change in
mine life on amortisation is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Mine properties are amortised on a units-of-production basis over the life of the mine.

6,368              9,909              

80                   

21,952            

16,277            
3,664              

Balance at 1 July 2019

33,905            

$'000 $'000

7,543              

Additions

-                  
Balance at 30 June 2020

Mine 
properties in 
development

Mine 
properties in 

production
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18. Mines Properties and Development (continued)

Significant estimates and judgements

19. Intangibles

Year ended 30 June 2021
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Movements

Amortisation

Year ended 30 June 2020
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Movements

Additions
Amortisation

Accounting policy
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(20)                  

412                 Balance at 30 June 2020

Total

1                     

187                 1                     

141                 

(1)                    

412                 

559                 

-                  
-                  

(309)                

270                 

317                 

-                  

-                  (80)                  

21                   

1                     

The accounting policy used to account for intangibles is the same as the accounting policy for property, plant and
equipment - refer to Note 17 for details.  Intangibles, other than goodwill, are amortised over two to five years.

Balance at 30 June 2021

21                   

(84)                  (83)                  

270                 

2                     Balance at 1 July 2019

328                 

176                 141                 

Ore Reserve Estimates 
Ore Reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be economically and legally extracted from the
consolidated entity's properties. In order to calculate Ore Reserves, estimates and assumptions are required
about a range of geological, technical and economic factors. Estimating the quality and/or grade of the Ore
Reserves requires the size, shape and depth of ore bodies to be determined by analysing geological data such
as drilling samples. This process may require complex and difficult geological judgements and calculations to
interpret the data. The consolidated entity is required to determine and report Ore Reserves in Australia under the
principles incorporated in the 2012 Edition of the Australasian Code, known as the JORC Code. The JORC Code
requires the use of reasonable investment assumptions to calculate Ore Reserves. 

As the economic assumptions used to estimate Ore Reserves change from period to period, and as additional
geological data is generated during the course of operations, estimates of Ore Reserves may change from period
to period. Changes in reported Ore Reserves may affect the consolidated entity's financial results and financial
position in a number of ways, including the following: 

• recognition of deferred tax on mineral rights and exploration recognised on acquisitions; 
• recoverable amount of deferred mining expenditure and capitalisation of development costs; and 
• units of time method of depreciation and amortisation. 

187                 

412                 

721                 
(392)                

559                 

328                 

$'000

141                 

141                 

141                 

(373)                
1                     

141                 
-                  

Goodwill 
$'000

35                   
314                 

1                     
(19)                  

141                 

Website

721                 

-                  

$'000$'000
Software

(1)                    
Balance at 1 July 2020

(290)                

(81)                  

270                 

141                 
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20. Right-of-use Assets

Corporate office - right-of-use asset
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Thalanga Operation - right-of-use asset
Less: Accumulated depreciation

21. Exploration and evaluation

Exploration and evaluation at cost
Impairment 

Movements
Opening  balance at 1 July

Additions
Impairments

Accounting policy
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The consolidated entity has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for
short-term leases with terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these
assets are expensed to profit or loss as incurred.

30 June 30 June

1,248              151                 

$'000

-                  

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is carried forward in the financial statements, in respect of areas of
interest for which the rights of tenure are current and where:

11,164            

Accounting Policy

Hillgrove acquisition at fair value 2                     

(54)                  

(1,828)             

65                   151                 

$'000

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year were $1,315,000.

The consolidated entity leases its Corporate office and containers used to transport concentrates from its
Thalanga Operation to the Townsville Port Facility in preparation for export.

11,522            

30 June

205                 
(140)                

2021

11,636            

9,693              

(808)                

-                  

9,693              

9,693              

A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred,
and, except where included in the cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling
and removing the underlying asset, and restoring the site or asset. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the
estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the consolidated entity expects to obtain
ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-
of use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

(131)                

(3,664)             

1,315              
-                  

1,183              -                  

2020
$'000

205                 

2,367              

11,636            

2021
$'000

14,273            

-                  

2020

Transfers - mine properties in production

2,751              

(2,637)             

30 June

(176)                
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21. Exploration and evaluation (continued)

Accounting policy (continued)

Significant estimates and judgements

22. Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables
GST payable
Accruals - Operating cost
Accruals - Development and capital cost
Accruals - Royalties
Employment liabilities

Accounting policy
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$'000

12,851            

$'000

5,689              

Key judgements are applied in considering costs to be capitalised which includes determining expenditures
directly related to these activities and allocating overheads between those that are expensed and capitalised. In
addition, costs are only capitalised that are expected to be recovered either through successful development or
sale of the relevant mining interest. Factors that could impact the future commercial production at the mine
include the level of reserves and resources, future technology changes, which could impact the cost of mining,
future legal changes and changes in commodity prices. To the extent that capitalised costs are determined not to
be recoverable in the future, they will be written off in the period in which this determination is made.

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 to 60 days of
recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12
months from the reporting date. They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

5,881              

379                 

30 June 30 June

14,256            
301                 

(i) such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of
interest, or alternatively, by its sale; or
(ii) exploration and/or evaluation activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits a
reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable ore reserves and while active
and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area are continuing.

Capitalised exploration and evaluation costs have been included in the statement of cash flows as an investing
activity. 

Exploration expenditure incurred that does not satisfy the policy stated above is expensed in the period in which it
is incurred. Exploration expenditure that has been capitalised which no longer satisfies the policy stated above is
written off in the period in which that decision is made.

The consolidated entity reviews the carrying value of exploration and evaluation expenditure on a regular basis
to determine whether economic quantities of reserves have been found or whether further exploration and
evaluation work is underway or planned to support continued carry forward of capitalised costs. This assessment
requires judgement as to the status of the individual projects and their estimated recoverable amount.

2020

Upon commencement of mining activities, exploration and evaluation expenditure is reclassified to mine
properties and then amortised in accordance with the accounting policy for mine properties.

The net carrying value of each area of interest is reviewed regularly and where an indication of impairment exists
management determine the recoverable amount of the particular area of interest. The difference between the
recoverable amount and carrying value is written off to the statement of profit or loss in the year in which is
determined. The assessment for impairment indicator is performed in accordance with the requirements of AASB 
6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources .

708                 

1,110              
5,019              

541                 1,159              
4,365              

-                  
1,954              

2021
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22. Trade and Other Payables (continued)

Risk exposure

23. Borrowings

Premium Funding
Trafigura PTE. Working Capital Facility

Accounting policy

Risk exposure

24. Provisions

Current
Provision for employee entitlements 
Provision for settlement of TCM royalty dispute (a)
Provision for rehabilitation and restoration costs

Non-current
Provision for employee entitlements 
Provision for make good on right-of-use assets
Provision for rehabilitation and restoration costs

Movements
Movement in provision for rehabilitation and restoration costs for the financial year is set out below:

Current
Opening balance at July 1
Progressive rehabilitation carried out
Transfer (to) / from non-current provision
Closing balance at 30 June

Non-current
Opening balance at July 1

Transfer (from) / to current provision
Other - increase in provision on acquisition of Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd
Other - reassessment of rehabilitation plan
Closing balance at 30 June
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Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction
costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest on
borrowings has been expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as incurred.

-                  

22                   

122                 

12,851            

119                 

21,254            

80                   

17,260            

The Company's exposure to interest rate and liquidity risk is discussed in Note 3. 

The financing facilities available to the consolidated entity are outlined in Note 34.

22                   

30 June

Increase in provision due to discount unwind

(119)                

$'000

30 June

147                 -                  

The Company's exposure to liquidity risk is discussed in Note 3. 

 

3,899              

47                   

1,207              

(9)                    

30 June

$'000
2021

$'000

$'000

$'000

30 June
2020

2020
30 June

147                 77                   

(34)                  

141                 

12,973            

2021

Note

22                   

277                 

17,032            

34                   

782                 

12,851            

315                 

$'000

7,368              

12,851            

-                  7,291              

2021

7,788              

2020

82                   

5,691              

30 June

47                   

4,587              

20,000            4,887              

17,032            

147                 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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24. Provisions (continued)

(a) Provision for settlement of TCM royalty Dispute

Accounting policy

(i) Short-term employee benefits

(ii) Other long-term employee benefit obligations

(iii) Defined contribution superannuation expense

Red River Resources Limited Annual Financial Report 30 June 2021 72

Rehabilitation and restoration
Long-term environmental obligations are based on the consolidated entity’s environmental management plans, in
compliance with current environmental and regulatory requirements. These plans are audited and endorsed by
an appropriate independent environmental rehabilitation expert.

Full provision is made based on the net present value of the estimated cost of restoring the environmental
disturbance that has occurred up to the reporting date. To the extent that future economic benefits are expected
to arise, these costs are capitalised and amortised over the remaining lives of the mines.

The estimated costs of rehabilitation are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate for changes in
legislation, technology or other circumstances. Cost estimates are not reduced by the potential proceeds from the
sale of assets or from plant clean-up at closure.

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled. Where annual leave is not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date it is
treated like a long-term employee benefit.

Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount
can be reliably estimated.  Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability.  The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

The liability for long service leave expected to be wholly settled more than 12 months from the reporting date is
recognised in the provision for employee benefits and is measured as the present value of expected future
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is
given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service.
Expected future payments are discounted using the appropriate Group of 100 published discount rates, that
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Employee benefits
The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave and long service leave entitlements accrued by
employees.

Red River and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd, received judgement in the proceedings
previously commenced by Thalanga Copper Mines Pty Ltd on 24 February 2019. Red River’s current estimate of
the potential amount payable for unpaid and future royalties is $20 million. As at the time of signing these
accounts the final amount payable and the timing of the payments had yet to be determined. Red River and
Cromarty Resources have filed a notice of intention to appeal the decision with the Courts. Refer to Note 39 for
further information on this matter.

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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24. Provisions (continued)

Significant estimates and judgements
Provision for rehabilitation and restoration

Long service leave

25. Issued Capital

Ordinary share capital - fully paid (a)

Accounting policy

(a) Movement in ordinary share capital

Balance at the beginning of the financial year

Less transaction costs, net of tax
Balance at the end of the financial year

Ordinary shares
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21,297,944     

30 June

$'000

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. They entitle the holder to participate in dividends and have no par value.

Ordinary issued share capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the company. Any
transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction in share
proceeds received.

30 June

490,682,000   

-                  

-                  

67,767            

2020
Note

300                 -                  

No.

Issue of shares on acquisition of Hillgrove 
Mines Pty Ltd.
Issue of shares on accession of United 
States Antimony Loan

-                  

2021

516,238,865   

Option and Share Plan

The Company did not issue any ordinary shares under placement during the 2021 financial year (2020: Nil). 

30 June
2021

Issue of shares on vesting of performance 
rights

3,700              

517,774,367   

2021

-                  

Information relating to the Employee Option Plan, Employee Share Plan and LTI Incentive Plan including details
of options issued, exercised and lapsed during the financial year, options outstanding at the end of the financial
year and shares issued during the year, is set out in Note 26 and the Remuneration Report.

-                  1,535,502       -                  

67,770            516,238,865   

2020

67,767            

-                  

Provision for rehabilitation and dismantling property, plant and equipment is estimated taking into consideration
facts and circumstances available at the reporting date. The consolidated entity's mining activities are subject to
various laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment. This estimate is based on
management's best estimate on the expenditure required to undertake the rehabilitation and dismantling of asset
for retirement obligations and site rehabilitations in the period in which they are expected to be incurred. Actual
costs incurred in the future periods could differ materially from the estimates. Additionally, future changes to
environmental laws and regulations, life of mine estimates and discount rates could affect the carrying amount of
this provision.

1,726,860       

(3)                    

2,532,061       

67,770            

No.

67,770            67,767            

2020

63,788            

$'000

30 June

30 June

$'000

$'000

67,770            

(18)                  

30 June

Long service leave is measured at the present value of benefits accumulated up to the end of the reporting
period. The liability is discounted using an appropriate discount rate. Management requires judgement to
determine key assumptions used in the calculation, including future increases in salaries and wages, future on-
costs rates and future settlement dates of employees' departures.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

25. Issued Capital (continued)

Terms and conditions of issued capital

Capital Risk Management

26. Reserves

Option reserve (a)
Performance rights reserve (b)

Accounting policy

(a) Movements in options reserve

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Share - based payment expense
Options forfeited

Balance at the end of the financial year

See the Remuneration Report contained in the Director's Report for further information on options reserve.
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30 June

30 June
2021

4,808              

$,000

(800,000)         
-                  

$,000

-                  

Note

-                  
4,808              

2020

865                 
4,808              

2021
30 June

The option reserve is used to recognise the grant date fair value of options issued to employees and suppliers.

The performance rights reserve is used to recognise the grant date fair value of performance rights issued to
employees.

41                   
3,300,000       

2021

2,500,000       
-                  

2020

-                  

No.

30 June

No.

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company in proportion to the
number of shares held. At shareholders’ meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is
called, otherwise each shareholder has a vote on a show of hands.  Ordinary shares have no par value.

4,808              

2,500,000       

30 June

The consolidated entity's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern so that the consolidate entity can provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
whilst maintaining an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

The consolidated entity monitors its working capital position against expenditure requirements to undertake its
planned exploration program and maintain its ongoing development operations. Where required the company
will sell assets, issue new securities, raise debt or modify its exploration or mine development program to ensure
the consolidated entity's working capital requirements are met.

2,500,000       
-                  

4,808              

5,673              

4,767              

5,863              
1,054              

$'000$'000

2020
30 June

The capital risk management policy remains unchanged from the 30 June 2020 Annual Report.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

26. Reserves (continued)

(b) Movements in performance rights reserve

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Share-based payment expense - LTIP 1
Share-based payment expense - LTIP 2
Share-based payment expense - LTIP 3
Share-based payment expense - LTIP 4
Share-based payment expense - LTIP 5
Performance rights vested LTIP 1
Market conditions not met - LTIP 1
Performance rights vested LTIP 2
Market conditions not met - LTIP 2
Performance rights forfeited

Balance at the end of the financial year

27. Accumulated Losses

Accumulated losses

Movements

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Net (profit) / loss after income tax expense for the year

28. Key Management Personnel Disclosures

Short-term
Annual leave and long service leave
Superannuation
Short-term incentive (paid for FY19 and FY20 in FY21)
Share-based payment

The remuneration dislosures are provided in the Remuneration Report on pages 32 to 42.
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-                  

30 June

-                  (552,683)         

19,590            

13,691            19,590            

(47)                  
-                  -                  

2021

1,547              311                 

13,691            

8,229,907       

(1,535,502)      -                  

30 June

-                  

1,054              12,291,526     

$'000

$'000 No.
2020

-                  
38                   

(418,859)         

865                 

37                   

1,072              

-                  

8,432,297       

(954,500)         -                  -                  

89                   -                  

1,589              

105                 

30 June

(3,046,193)      

(2,532,061)      

49                   3,705,993       

2021 2020

-                  
-                  -                  

-                  

9,395,424       -                  -                  

$'000

3,740              

$'000

(5,899)             

102                 138                 
168                 

8,432,297       

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the
consolidated entity is set out below:

30                   

-                  

418                 -                  

1,468              

-                  

2020

2021
$'000

30 June 30 June

See the Remuneration Report contained in the Director's Report for further information on the performance rights
reserve.

6,852              

13,691            

2020

-                  

865                 

520                 

12,738            19,590            

30 June

19,590            

$'000

-                  

30 June

178                 

No.

162                 

2021

30 June
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

29 Remuneration of Auditor

Audit and review of financial statements of the entity by RSM Australia Partners

Other services by RSM Australia
Tax services

30. Events Subsequent to Balance Date
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During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the consolidated 
entity, its related practices and non-related audit firms.

135                 

16                   

Other than the above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those
operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in future financial years.

97                   

$'000

The Queensland Department of Environment and Science has updated the Estimated Rehabilitation Cost (ERC)
for the Thalanga Operation to $13.6 million. This increase in the ERC (environmental liability) has been reflected
in the financial statements for the period ended June 30 2021. Under the previous ERC, surety of $8.3 million
was lodged with Queensland Treasury. Increased surety of $5.4 million was lodged (using current cash reserves)
in July 2021.  

50                   

85                   82                   

2020
30 June

The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while it has had limited impact on the
consolidated entity up to the day of signing this financial report, it is not practicable to estimate the potential
impact, positive or negative, after the reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on
measures imposed by the Australian Government and other countries, such as maintaining social distancing
requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus that may be provided.

$'000
2021

30 June
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

31. Segment Information

Intersegment transactions

Intersegment receivables, payables and loans

Revenue
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114,517          

$'000

The operating segments are identified by management based on their geographical location. An operating
segment may include both exploration and operating activities. The reportable segments are split between the
Thalanga Operation, Hillgrove Gold Mines (acquired 27 August 2019) and Other (representing other tenements
and corporate activities).

2,223              120,585          

10,546            

Operating Segment Information for year ended 30 June 2021

118,337          

-                  

5,899              

Earnings / (loss) before interest, tax and 
depreciation

10,090            

Profit / (loss) after income tax benefit

Profit / (loss) before income tax benefit

Contained lead metal in concentrate

Contained precious metal in concentrate 22,913            
38,601            Contained copper metal in concentrate

Total revenue

993                 -                  

42,914            

Other Income 2,223              

Net interest income / (expense) (704)                

Depreciation and amortisation

(2,381)             27,567            
 

Reconciliation of profit / (loss) after income tax 

(4,647)             

31,751            

114,393          Total segment revenue 
(125)                

(808)                

Income tax benefit / (expense)

119,496          

-                  38,601            

Year ended 30 June 2021

Hillgrove 
Operation

Corporate office activities are not allocated to operating segments for assessing performance of each operating
segment.

10,090            -                  -                  

(1,803)             

(15,508)           
Impairment - exploration and evaluation costs

Intersegment loans are initially recognised at the consideration received. Intersegment loans receivable and
loans payable that earn or incur non-market interest are not adjusted to fair value based on market interest rates.
Intersegment loans are eliminated on consolidation.

The consolidated entity has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and
used by the Managing Director and Board of Directors (the chief operating decision makers ('CODM')) in
assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources. The CODM reviews EBITDA (earnings
before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and impairment). 

The accounting policies adopted for internal reporting to the CODM are consistent with those adopted in the
financial statements.  The information reported to the CODM is on a monthly basis.

Intersegment transactions were made at market rates. Intercompany loan accounts are maintained between the
corporate entity and its subsidiaries. Interest on outstanding loan balances is charged at market rates.
Intersegment transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

23,906            
Contained precious metal in dore -                  2,827              -                  2,827              

149                 
3,969              

(1,088)             
Total revenue

2,248              

Intersegment eliminations

-                  

Contained zinc metal in concentrate 42,914            

-                  

Other Total
Thalanga 

Operation
$'000

3,820              

$'000 $'000

-                  

The consolidated entity operates only in the industry of exploration for and development of minerals in Australia.
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31. Segment Information (continued)

Revenue
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Income tax benefit / (expense) 6,111              

Profit / (loss) after income tax expense (6,852)             
  

Net interest income / (expense)

Total revenue

(924)                
(176)                

(12,963)           

(3,181)             

51                   

Reconciliation of profit / (loss) after income tax 
Depreciation and amortisation

11,236            

Total Liabilities

Intersegment eliminations

$'000

Contained copper metal in concentrate

1,413              114,070          

$'000

$'000

Profit / (loss) before income tax expense

3,041              

Impairment - exploration and evaluation costs

52,711            

(2,365)             
 

1,187              

Thalanga 
Operation

-                  -                  

Hillgrove 
Operation

Other

2,161              (1,346)             

(9,497)             

Profit / (Loss) of reportable segments 
Thalanga 

Operation
Hillgrove 

Operation
Other

53,898            

54,026            

51                   

52,711            Total revenue
Contained precious metal in concentrate

Contained lead metal in concentrate

  

19,814            

  
Operating Segment Information for year ended 30 June 2020

Total segment revenue 

Total

13,734            

Total

$'000

96,345            16,312            
(47,270)           (5,873)             

13,734            

55,752            

11,236            -                  -                  

(988)                (54,132)           

Contained zinc metal in concentrate 19,814            -                  -                  
7,927              -                  -                  7,927              

(1,726)             

Earnings / (loss) before interest, tax and 
depreciation

$'000 $'000

1,802              
Other Income

-                  -                  

Year ended 30 June 2020 $'000

Year ended 30 June 2021

1,802              

$'000

Total Assets

Thalanga 
Operation

Hillgrove
Operation

Other Total

Year ended 30 June 2020 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Total Assets 80,408            8,030              4,432              92,871            
Total Liabilities (32,559)           (4,938)             (1,521)             (39,018)           
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

32. Related Party Transactions

Parent entity
Red River Resources Limited is the parent entity.

Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 37.

Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in Note 28 and the Remuneration Report

Related party transaction during the year

Loans to / from related parties
The consolidated entity did not have any related party loans during the 2021 or 2020 financial years.

Receivables from and payables to related parties

33. Commitments

Operating commitments at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within one year
Two to five years

There are no other commitments for expenditure.
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30 June

 7,019

No Director related entities were paid for expenses on behalf of Red River Resources Limited throughout the year 
(2020: Nil).

 5,607

$'000 $'000

 2,339
 5,719

2021 2020

 3,268

30 June

The consolidated entity has certain obligations to perform minimum exploration work on exploration tenements
held and to pay rental on all tenements. As at balance date, total commitments on tenements held by the
consolidated entity have not been provided for in the financial statements, however the expenditure required to
maintain the tenements over which the consolidated entity has an interest in at 30 June 2021 are listed in the
table below:

 1,301

The consolidated entity did not have any receivable from, or payable to, related parties during the 2021 or 2020
financial years.
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34. Reconciliation of Profit / (Loss) after tax to net cash from / (used in) operating activities

Operating profit / (loss) after income tax

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
Share based payments expensed
Borrowing costs

Changes in Assets and Liabilities
(Decrease)/increase in payables
(Decrease)/increase in provisions
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
(Increase)/decrease in inventory
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
(Increase)/decrease in net deferred tax assets
Net cash from / (used) in operating activities

Financing Facilities Available

Total facilities at reporting date
Bank guarantee facilities
Credit facilities
Macquarie premium funding (group insurance premium)
Working capital facility - USD 15 million

Facilities used at reporting date
Bank guarantee facilities
Credit facilities
Macquarie premium funding (group insurance premium)
Working capital facility - USD 10 million

Facilities unused at reporting date
Bank guarantee facilities
Credit facilities
Macquarie premium funding (group insurance premium)
Working capital facility - USD 10 million 
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Adjustments to reconcile loss after income tax to 
net operating cash flows.

 462

30 June

(425)                (208)                

(1,081)             

2021 2020

 5,899

 16,317

(2,556)             

(2,588)             

-                   245

 9,673
 189

$'000

 20,691

30 June
2021

 27,072

 12,373

$'000

 50

30 June

12,373
 30

2020

 147

 12,383
$'000

 676

 4,647 (6,111)             
 45,042 (8,630)             

 77

(1,273)             

 49

-                  

 18

 7,291
 19,763

-                  

 14,582
 32,580

-                  -                  

-                  

 12,383

 147  77

 12,521

 7,291
 20,059

$'000

(6,852)             

 20,010

 20,010

 387

(1,679)             

30 June

 1  12

 7,309
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

35. Earnings Per Share

Earnings per share for profit / (loss)

Basic earnings / (loss) per share

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share

Accounting policy
Basic earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share

36. Share-based Payments

 The following share based payments existed at 30 June 2021:

Options

Outstanding at the beginning of the year
Forfeited
Outstanding at the end of the year
Exercisable at the end of the year
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Number of 
options

$

3,300,000       

Number

(0.0134)           

2,500,000       

 0.0114

30 June 2020

 0.0114

 5,899,000

$

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the members of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the
financial year.

 511,762,192

 516,238,865

(6,852,000)      

Number

30 June

$

-                  

Weighted Ave. 
Exe. price

2,500,000       
-                  30 cents

25 cents
-                  (800,000)         

 519,283,333

2,500,000       30 cents

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary
shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation
to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

30 June 2021

Weighted Ave. 
Exe. Price

30 cents
30 cents -                  

30 cents

Number of 
options

(0.0134)           

30 June
2021 2020

 517,394,710

$

2,500,000       

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in 
calculating diluted earnings per share

Profit / (loss) after income tax attributable to the owners of the Company

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic
earnings per share
Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:

 1,888,623  4,476,673
Performance rights over ordinary shares that would have been issued 
had the current period been the assessment period of the LTIP



RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)
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36. Share-based Payments (continued)

Employee long term incentive plan (LTIP)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year
Rights issued during the year
Performance rights vested -  LTIP 1
Market conditions not met - LTIP 1
Performance rights vested -  LTIP 2
Market conditions not met - LTIP 2
Rights forfeited during the year
Outstanding at the end of the year

LTIP series
Grant date
Number of rights granted
Vesting date
Share price at grant date
Fair value at grant date 
Expected share price volatility (%)
Expected dividend yield (%)
Expected risk-free rate (%)

Expenses arising from ordinary share payment transactions

 Total expenses arising from share based payment transactions during the year were as follows:

Options issued as employee compensation
Performance rights issued as employee compensation
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 13.9

(1,535,502)      

-                  

(2,532,061)      

8,432,297       

9,395,424       

-                  

 13.3

The fair value of the performance rights granted during the 2021 financial year is calculated in accordance with
AASB 2 Share Based payments, the values are determined using a monte carlo pricing model with the following
inputs:

Granted 
2021

LTIP 5
30-Nov-20

 189

0.00%

 11.9

8,229,907       

2020

Weighted 
average fair 
value (cents)

 11.39,395,424        23.1
-                  

3,705,993       

(418,859)         

70.0%

 17.1

-                  

8,432,297        13.3

-                  
(552,683)         

 11.9

28-Oct-23

0.12%

-                  

Number of 
performance 

rights

Number of 
performance 

rights

Weighted 
average fair 
value (cents)

12,291,526      17.7

30 June 2021 30 June 2020

-                  

30 June

$'000 $'000

$0.231

 41

 21.6

Under the LTIP, participants are granted share rights which will only vest if certain performance conditions are
met and the employees are still employed by the consolidated entity at the end of the vesting period. Participation
in the LTIP is at the Board’s discretion and no individual has a contractual right to participate in the plan or to
receive any guaranteed benefits.

Performance Rights
Set out below are summaries of performance rights granted under the LTIP:

 345
 387

 189

30 June
2021

(3,046,193)       18.9

$0.270

(954,500)          21.6 -                  -                  
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36. Share-based Payments (continued)

Accounting policy

Significant estimates and judgements

37. Subsidiaries

Name of entity

Parent Entity:
Red River Resources Ltd

Subsidiaries:
Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd
Forth Resources Pty Ltd
Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd
Hebrides Resources Pty Ltd
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30 June 2021
Equity HoldingEquity Holding

Australia

Australia
Australia

Australia 100%

Country of incorporation

The consolidated entity provides benefits to employees (including directors) of the consolidated entity in the form
of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over
shares (‘equity-settled transactions’). The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an internal
valuation using a Black-Scholes option pricing model for options and by an external valuation using a Monte
Carlo fair value estimation model for performance rights. The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance conditions are fulfilled,
ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (‘vesting date’).

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional
upon a market condition.

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the number of awards that, in the opinion of the
directors of the company, will ultimately vest. This opinion is formed based on the best available information at
reporting date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect
of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in
accordance with the Company's accounting policy as described in the Notes:

100%
100% 100%

Australia

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for
the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award.

100%
100%

100%
100%

30 June 2020

The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using either
the Black-Scholes or Monte Carlo methodology. 

The estimation of the achievement of vesting conditions, other than market conditions, used to adjust the number
of equity instruments ultimately likely to eventually vest requires significant management judgement. These
estimates are reviewed on a semi-annual basis to determine if subsequent information indicates that the number
of equity instruments expected to vest differs from previous estimates. All changes in the liability are recognised
in profit or loss.



RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

38. Parent Entity Information

Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity:

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Profit / (Loss) after income tax
Total Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Position

Current assets
Non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

Net assets

Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses
Total equity

Significant accounting policies - parent entity

●
●
●

39. Contingent Liabilities
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(1,439)             

30 June 30 June

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment;

 57,191
 4,225

 61,417
 1,397

$'000

(14,987)           
 58,643

 913

 1,522

 55,825

30 June 30 June
2021

 5,863  5,673
(13,548)           
 59,895

 67,767

 3,807

 76  125

 59,631

 989

$'000 $'000

(1,196)             
(1,439)             (1,196)             

2021 2020
$'000

Red River and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd, received judgement in the proceedings
previously commenced by Thalanga Copper Mines Pty Ltd on 24 February 2019. Red River’s current estimate of
the potential amount payable for unpaid and future royalties is $20 million. This has been provided for in the
accounts (refer to Note 24(a)). The final amount payable within the initial estimate and the timing of the payments
has yet to be determined. Prior to these Proceedings, the royalties had no cap on the time period or dollar
amounts that would have had to be paid by the Company from Thalanga. Once determined, a final amount for
these royalties will crystallise and Red River will have no ongoing royalty obligations to TCM. Red River and
Cromarty Resources have filed a notice of intention to appeal the decision with the Courts. (Further information
see ASX Announcements 25 February 2019 and 7 June 2021).

2020

Equity settled awards by the parent to employees of subsidiaries are recognized as an increase in investment
in the subsidiary with a corresponding credit to equity and not as a change to profit or loss. The investment in
subsidiary is reduced by any contribution by the subsidiary.

 58,643  59,895

Significant accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as 
disclosed in Note 2 except for the following:

The parent entity has entered into a Parent Company Guarantee with Trafigura in relation to the facility
agreement between Cromarty Pty Ltd and Trafigura (Refer to Note 3 for further information on this facility). 

 67,770

Dividends received from subsidiaries are recognized as other income by the parent entity; and

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiary
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Directors' Declaration
For the year ended 30 June 2021

The directors of Red River Resources Limited ('the Company') declare that:

1.

a)

b)

c) complying with IFRS and interpretations adoped by the International Accounting Standards Board.

2.

3.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

On behalf of the Board.
RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED

Mr. Brett Fletcher
Non-executive Chairman

26 August 2021
Melbourne, Victoria
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giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position at 30 June 2021 and of its
performance for the year ended on that date; and

in the directors' opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its
debts as and when they become due and payable.

The directors have been given the declaration by the Managing Director, Melkon Palancian, as required by
Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Directors' Declaration

the financial statements and notes set out on pages 45 to 84 are in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:

complying with the Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and other mandatory
professional reporting requirments;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
To the Members of Red River Resources Limited 
 
 
Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Red River Resources Limited (the Company) and its controlled entities (the 

Consolidated Entity) which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors' declaration.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Consolidated Entity is in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, including:  

 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity's financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its 
financial performance for the year then ended; and  

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.  

 
Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 

are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We 

are independent of the Consolidated Entity in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 

Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's 

APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report 

in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the 

directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor's report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 
Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report 

as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Key Audit Matters (continued) 

Key Audit Matter 
 

How our audit addressed this matter 

Revenue Recognition 
Refer to Note 5 in the financial statements 

Revenue recognition was considered a key audit 

matter because it is the most significant account 

balance in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income, and because the 

Consolidated Entity’s process of revenue recognition 

is complex and involves significant management 

judgements. 

These include: 

• Identification of the different performance 

obligations in the contracts. 

• determination of the timing of meeting the 

performance obligations under the different 

sales contracts. 

• the estimation of variation in the final sale 

prices. 

 
 

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue included: 

• Assessing whether the Consolidated Entity’s revenue 

recognition policies were in compliance with Australian 

Accounting Standards; 

• Reviewing the classification and allocation of treatment 

and refining charges to ensure accounting treatment is in 

line with the Australian Accounting Standards and the 

Consolidated Entity’s accounting policy; 

• Evaluating and testing the operating effectiveness of the 

internal controls related to revenue recognition; 

• Reviewing customer contracts to understand terms and 

conditions of sale, the performance obligations involved 

and the timing of meeting the performance obligations; 

• Reviewing the effect of the variable consideration within 

the sales, including management estimates involving the 

sales revaluation calculation. We compared estimates to 

actual assay results (where available) and assessed the 

reasonableness of the estimate against the average 

change in the assay results; 

• Performing substantive analytics and test of details over 

a sample of revenue transactions; 

• Reviewing sales transactions before and after year-end 

to corroborate that revenue was recognised in the correct 

period; and 

• Reviewing large or unusual transactions during the 

financial year.  

 

Provision for TCM royalty dispute 
Refer to Note 24 in the financial statements 

There is a provision of $20 million which relates to a 

specific royalty claim against the entity which is 

subject to ongoing legal action. 

 

We considered this area to be a key audit matter due 

to the size of the claim, and the inherent uncertainty in 

determining the amount, if any, to be provided for, 

given that the amount in question is disputed, and is 

subject to an ongoing legal process.  

 

In relation to the provision for the TCM royalty dispute our audit 

approach included: 

• Holding discussions with management in order to obtain 

their views on the dispute and the range of likely 

outcomes;  

• Reviewing the related Judgements and Decisions on this 

matter and other relevant documentation and using this 

evidence to assess the appropriateness of the provision 

under the recognition and measurement criteria of the 

accounting standards;   

• Requesting and obtaining confirmation of in relation to 

the TCM royalty dispute litigation from the Consolidated 

Entity’s external lawyers, and comparing the information 

obtained to that gathered from management and the 

directors in order to determine whether the facts and 

circumstances were consistent between the two; and 

• Assessing the appropriateness of disclosures made in 

the financial statements, by comparing them to the 

evidence gathered in the course of our audit. 

 



 

88 

 

Key Audit Matters (continued) 

Provision for rehabilitation and restoration costs 
Refer to Note 24 in the financial statements 

As at 30 June 2021, the Consolidated Entity had a 

provision of $17 million relating to the estimated future 

cost of rehabilitation and restoration of areas 

disturbed as a result of the exploration and mining 

activities. The rehabilitation provision represents the 

present value of estimated future costs for restoration 

of areas explored and mined. 

 

The provision for rehabilitation and restoration cost 

was considered a key audit matter due to the 

materiality of the balance, the significant judgements 

and estimation uncertainty, and the complexity 

involved in the quantification of the liability. 

Our audit procedures included, among others: 

• Obtaining an understanding of the process involved in the 

determination of the provision for rehabilitation and 

restoration costs;  

• Obtaining the rehabilitation plan developed by the 

independent experts and evaluated the objective, 

competence and independence of the expert;  

• Verifying that the methodology for the calculation for the 

provision for rehabilitation and restoration costs used is in 

accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent 

Liabilities and Contingent Assets;  

• Reviewing the key assumptions used in the calculations 

and agreeing them to evidence supporting the 

assumptions used; and   

• Assessing the appropriateness of the disclosures 

included in the financial statements in relation to the 

provision for provision for rehabilitation and restoration 

costs. 

 

Other Information  

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 

the Consolidated Entity's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021; but does not include the financial report and 

the auditor's report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form 

of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report, or our knowledge obtained in 

the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 

we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

 
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 

in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as 

the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 

and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Consolidated Entity to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Consolidated Entity or to cease operations, or 

have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance; but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the 

Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance 

Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar2.pdf. This description forms part of our 

auditor's report.  

Report on the Remuneration Report 

 
Opinion on the Remuneration Report 
 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors' report for the year ended 30 June 2021.  

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Red River Resources Limited., for the year ended 30 June 2021, complies 

with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

 
Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in 

accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 

Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  

 

 
 
RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS 
 

 
 
R J MORILLO MALDONADO 
Partner 
 
 
Dated: 26 August 2021 
Melbourne, Victoria 

http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar2.pdf


RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Corporate Governance Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2021
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The Corporate Governance Statement is accurate and up to date as at 26 August 2021 has been approved by the
Board.

In accordance with ASX Listing Rules 4.10.3 and 4.7.4 the Corporate Governance Statement is available for review
on the Company's website (www.redriverresources.com.au) and will be lodged together with an Appendix 4G at the
same time that this Annual Report is lodged with ASX.

The Appendix 4G will identify each Recommendation that needs to be reported against by the Company and will
provide shareholders with information as to where relevant governance disclosures can be found.

The Company's corporate governance policies and charters are all available on the Company's website
(www.redriverresources.com.au).

Corporate Governance Statement

The Board and management of Red River Resources Limited are committed to conducting the Group's business in
an ethical manner and in accordance with the highest standards of corporate governance. The Company has
adopted and has substantially complied with the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations
(Third Edition) (Recommendations) to the extent appropriate for the size and nature of the Group's operations.

The Company has prepared a statement which sets out the corporate governance practices that were in operation
throughout the financial year for the Company, identifies any Recommendations that have not been followed and
provides reasons for not following such Recommendations (Corporate Governance Statement).



RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Shareholder Information
For the year ended 30 June 2021

ASX Information

The substantial Shareholders of the Company as at 20 August 2021 were:

Substantial Shareholder

Distribution of Shareholders as at 20 August 2021:

Range of Holding
1 - 1,000
1,001 - 5,000
5,000 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,000 - over

Voting Rights
Each fully paid ordinary share carries voting rights of one vote per share.

Top twenty largest Shareholders as at 21 August 2021.

Total top twenty Shareholders
Total other Shareholders
Total Shareholders

Unmarketable Parcel
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MR RICHARD THOMAS HAYWARD DALY + MRS SARAH KAY DALY 
<THE DALY FAMILY S/F RTH A/C>

3,786,695 0.73%

MR ANDREW FAY + MRS NARELLE FAY <ANDREW FAY SUPER A/C>
OMIGOTO PTY LTD
WINCHESTER INVESTMENTS GROUP PTY LIMITED
ZENITH PACIFIC LIMITED 4,000,000 0.77%

MR DAVID ROTHWELL
CS FOURTH NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <HSBC CUST NOM AU LTD 11 A/C>
CS THIRD NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <HSBC CUST NOM AU LTD 13 A/C>
R J MUFFET PTY LTD <R J MUFFET SUPER FUND A/C>
BRAHAM INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <BRAHAM STAFF SUPER FUND A/C>

MRS NARELLE FAY
MR MATTHEW GLENN SHEERIN
MR ANDREW FAY
BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP>
WYMOND INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <DEE WHY SALES P/L S/F A/C>

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED
3RD WAVE INVESTORS PTY LTD
BRAHAM CONSOLIDATED PTY LTD
BELL POTTER NOMINEES LTD <BB NOMINEES A/C>
BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <IB AU NOMS RETAILCLIENT DRP>

Shareholder Information

Number Held Percentage

896 3,032,683
785 6,710,896

2,124 81,690,757

Holders Shares
134 24,517

648 426,315,514
4,587 517,774,367

Number of shares % of capital held

7,000,000 1.35%
6,750,000 1.30%

26,141,992 5.05%
22,000,000 4.25%
10,147,790 1.96%

6,641,904 1.28%

9,801,916 1.89%
9,471,134 1.83%
8,754,658 1.69%

5,358,771 1.03%
5,200,000 1.00%
5,095,656 0.98%

6,250,000 1.21%
5,869,112 1.13%
5,416,725 1.05%

160,766,353 31.05%

5,080,000 0.98%
4,000,000 0.77%
4,000,000 0.77%

Minimum parcel sixe of $500 equates to approx. 3,334 shares at $0.15 per share of which there are 590 holders with 
a total of 1,123,114 shares.

357,008,014 68.95%
517,774,367 100.00%



RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Interest in Mining Tenements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Interest in tenements held at 30 June 2021.

Thalanga

Herberton

Hillgrove
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EPM27731 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 3/08/2021 3/08/2026 100%

EL 5997 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 27/09/2002 27/09/2025 100%
EL 6419 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 17/05/2005 17/05/2021 100%

EL 3326 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 23/08/1989 Renewal Pending

EPM 27520 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 6/07/2020 5/07/2025 100%
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ML 714 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 21/03/1979 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 649 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 4/10/1978 Renewal Pending 100%
ML 655 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 4/10/1978 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 592 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 3/05/1978 Renewal Pending 100%
ML 600 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 10/05/1978 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 391 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 16/02/1977 Renewal Pending 100%
ML 392 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 16/02/1977 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 219 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 16/06/1976 Renewal Pending 100%
ML 231 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 21/07/1976 Renewal Pending 100%

EL 8914 Forth Resources Pty Ltd 8/11/2019 8/11/2025 100%
ML 205 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 21/05/1976 Renewal Pending 100%

100%
EL 5973 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 19/08/2002 19/08/2025 100%

NEW SOUTH WALES

EPM27168 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 20/02/2020 19/02/2025 100%
EPM27221 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 14/04/2020 13/04/2025 100%
EPM27223 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 31/03/2020 30/03/2025 100%

ML 10186 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 6/10/1994 Renewal Pending 100%
ML 10277 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 24/02/2005 28/02/2025 100%

ML 10137 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 14/12/1995 31/12/2027 100%
ML 10185 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 6/10/1994 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 1392 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 17/03/1977 30/06/2035 100%
ML 1531 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 29/01/1987 Renewal Pending 100%

EPM 26718 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 9/08/2018 8/08/2023 100%
EPM 27357 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 29/04/2020 28/04/2025 100%

EPM 25815 Hebrides Resources Pty Ltd 30/06/2015 29/06/2025 100%
EPM 25895 Hebrides Resources Pty Ltd 7/09/2015 6/09/2025 100%

EPM 18471 Hebrides Resources Pty Ltd 19/04/2011 18/04/2026 100%
EPM 18713 Hebrides Resources Pty Ltd 2/07/2012 1/07/2022 100%

EPM 16929 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 23/02/2010 22/02/2023 100%
EPM 18470 Hebrides Resources Pty Ltd 19/04/2011 18/04/2026 100%

EPM 12766 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 22/04/2004 21/04/2026 100%
EPM 14161 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 15/06/2004 14/06/2022 100%

QUEENSLAND

EPM 10582 Cromarty Resources Pty Ltd 28/07/1995 31/12/2025 100%

Interest in Mining Tenements

Tenement Name Holder Grant Date Expiry Date
Beneficial 

Interest



RED RIVER RESOURCES LIMITED (ABN 35 100 796 754)

Interest in Mining Tenements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Interest in tenements held at 30 June 2021.

Hillgrove
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PLL 3827 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 21/08/1973 Renewal Pending 100%

PLL 416 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 20/12/1935 Renewal Pending 100%
PLL 661 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 27/07/1943 Renewal Pending 100%

MPL 1427 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 6/07/1973 Renewal Pending
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PLL 804 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 22/07/1949 22/07/2032 100%
PLL 1252 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 23/12/1969 Renewal Pending 100%

100%
PLL 350 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 28/05/1932 Renewal Pending 100%

MPL 745 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 29/03/1933 Renewal Pending 100%
MPL 919 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 31/08/1938 Renewal Pending 100%

MPL 146 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 9/08/1978 Renewal Pending 100%
MPL 220 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 7/12/1983 Renewal Pending 100%

GL 3980 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 29/03/1933 Renewal Pending 100%
GL 5845 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 16/02/1968 16/02/2030 100%

ML 6282 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 12/03/1971 Renewal Pending 100%
GL 3959 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 8/02/1933 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 1604 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 4/12/2007 Renewal Pending 100%
ML 5643 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 14/11/1958 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 1602 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 4/12/2007 Renewal Pending 100%
ML 1603 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 4/12/2007 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 1600 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 4/12/2007 Renewal Pending 100%
ML 1601 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 4/12/2007 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 1598 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 4/12/2007 Renewal Pending 100%
ML 1599 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 4/12/2007 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 1441 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 12/02/1999 Renewal Pending 100%
ML 1442 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 12/02/1999 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 1332 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 7/10/1993 11/02/2041 100%
ML 1440 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 12/02/1999 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 1100 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 9/11/1983 Renewal Pending 100%
ML 1101 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 9/11/1983 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 1020 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 3/11/1982 11/02/2041 100%
ML 1026 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 8/12/1982 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 972 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 6/01/1982 Renewal Pending 100%

Interest in Mining Tenements (continued)

Tenement Name Holder Grant Date Expiry Date
Beneficial 

Interest

ML 945 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 8/07/1981 Renewal Pending 100%
ML 961 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 9/12/1981 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 772 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 5/09/1979 Renewal Pending 100%
ML 810 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 5/03/1980 Renewal Pending 100%

ML 749 Hillgrove Mines Pty Ltd 4/07/1979 Renewal Pending 100%

NEW SOUTH WALES
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